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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA   )      
       ) 

v.      ) Crim. No. 11-102 (GK) 
)   

CHARLES DAUM,     )  Trial Date:  May 7, 2012  
DAAIYAH PASHA, and    ) 
IMAN PASHA     ) 

) 
Defendants.    ) 

 
 

GOVERNMENT=S MOTION TO RECONSIDER THE APRIL 19, 2012 
ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS= MOTION TO COMPEL 
PRODUCTION OF BRADY MATERIAL AND SANCTIONS 

 
The United States of America, by and through its undersigned counsel, respectfully 

requests that this Court reconsider its Order of April 19, 2012, finding that the government 

committed a Brady violation by failing to disclose to the defense in a timely manner the statements 

of a potential witness, Everett Montgomery, who had earlier provided information to the 

government of an arguably exculpatory nature.  The information was disclosed almost four weeks 

before trial – and more than two weeks before the Court’s deadline for disclosing Brady/Giglio 

information – and the government immediately offered to assist the defense in obtaining access to 

the witness.  The defense, which has the burden of establishing that a Brady violation occurred, 

failed to adduce any evidence in support of its claim of prejudice.  Instead, the defense proceeded 

by proffer, and its contentions were speculative at best.  Even accepting the speculative nature of 

the defendants= proffer of testimony they claim would have been admitted at trial if not for the 

alleged Brady violation, there is no basis for concluding in this pre-trial setting that there is a 
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reasonable probability that such purported testimony would have changed the outcome of the trial.  

For these reasons, the government respectfully requests that this Court reconsider its Order.  

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

On April 12, 2011, a federal grand jury in the District of Columbia returned a seven-count 

indictment that charged the defendants with conspiracy to influence or injure an officer or juror 

(obstruction of justice), in violation of 18 U.S.C. '' 371 and 1503.  In addition, defendant Charles 

Daum was charged with multiple substantive counts of obstruction of justice, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. ' 1503; tampering with a witness, in violation of 18 U.S.C. '' 1512(b)(2)(C) and (D); and 

subornation of perjury, in violation of 18 U.S.C. ' 1622.  The defendants were arraigned on April 

21, 2011.  Since the defendants= arraignment, the government has provided a voluminous amount 

of discovery, including materials containing information that are arguably exculpatory and that 

can be used to impeach witnesses.  

On December 16, 2011, the defense filed a motion to compel production of all material 

under Brady/Giglio/Bagley,1as well as the Jencks Act [Dkt. #60].  The defendants asked the Court 

to order the government to disclose all Brady/Giglio/Bagley information within sixty days of the 

scheduled trial date, and all Jencks Act material no later than three weeks before trial.  The 

government opposed early disclosure of impeachment and Jencks Act material, but explained that 

it would follow its normal practice of providing Aexculpatory@ information reasonably promptly 

after the information came into its possession or control [Dkt. #66].  This Court subsequently 

issued an order directing the government to disclose all Brady/Giglio/Bagley information to the 

defense no later than April 20, 2012, or ten days prior to the scheduled trial date [Dkt. #117]. 

                                                 
1 See Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), and United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 
(1985). 
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

 On July 11, 2011, the prosecutors then assigned to the case, along with two members of the 

Metropolitan Police Department (AMPD@), conducted a brief interview of Everett Montgomery 

regarding his knowledge of an incident that occurred inside his apartment on September 12, 2008, 

during which defendants Iman and Daaiyah Pasha (both women) took staged photographs of 

Jerome White purportedly Acutting up@ what appeared to be crack cocaine, while his mother, 

Cheryl White, was ostensibly playing with a cat that she had apparently received that same 

evening, purportedly as a Valentine=s Day gift.  As the indictment alleges, and the government has 

reiterated in its pleadings and in open court, the purpose of the staged photographs was to corruptly 

influence the jury in United States v. Delante White, Crim. No. 08-065, into believing that drugs 

seized by police approximately ten days after Valentine=s Day in 2008 actually belonged to Jerome 

White, and not Delante White, who was on trial at the time.  Defendant Charles Daum, who was 

representing Delante White in the case, later admitted these photographs into evidence at Delante 

White’s trial.  Defendants Iman and Daaiyah Pasha worked on the case as Daum=s investigators. 

 Mr. Montgomery, who was Cheryl White’s boyfriend, for the most part corroborated the 

accounts given by witnesses who were also present when the photographs were taken, including 

Jerome and Cheryl White, Candice Robertson, and Brittany McDaniels.  For example, Mr. 

Montgomery recalled that there was a cat inside the apartment and that one of the two people who 

entered his apartment brought balloons and tied them to a chair.2  However, Mr. Montgomery 

provided one detail that contradicted the accounts of the four other individuals who were present at 

the time; in particular, he stated that he believed one of the two people who entered his apartment 

                                                 
2 Photographs that were later introduced into evidence corroborate Mr. Montgomery=s description of 
these two items brought to his apartment.   
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was a man.3  Mr. Montgomery further stated that, shortly after entering his apartment, he went in 

his bedroom and closed the door behind him.  The interview with Mr. Montgomery ended after 

approximately ten to fifteen minutes, as Mr. Montgomery was reluctant to answer further questions 

and stated that he did not wish to get involved and would not go to court if called upon to do so.  

 On April 5, 2012, as soon as the prosecutorial team located notes about the interview of Mr. 

Montgomery, the government provided information to the defense about Mr. Montgomery=s July 11, 

2011 statement and gave the defense Mr. Montgomery’s last-known address.  This was almost four 

weeks before the scheduled trial.  Nonetheless, the defendants filed a motion to compel production 

of Brady information and for sanctions the following day, just several hours after the defense had 

declined an offer from the government to help the defense locate and arrange an interview with Mr. 

Montgomery.  The Court subsequently notified the parties that it would conduct a 

Anon-evidentiary@ Brady hearing on April 19, 2012 [Dkt. #168]. 

 At the conclusion of the hearing, the Court concluded that Athe Government committed a 

Brady violation.@  4/19/12 Tr. 37.  Although it stated that Athe issue of prejudice is not relevant,@ it 

reasoned that the prejudice was, in fact, substantial, because the defense could have obtained a 

statement under oath from Montgomery.  It further explained that A[w]e will never know whether 

that statement would have been favorable or unfavorable,@ so that Athe eight-month passage of time 

can indeed detract from the ability to make sufficient use of the testimony.@  Id. at 40.   

                                                 
3 No one besides Mr. Montgomery who was questioned about the incident has indicated that a man 
and a woman entered the apartment on September 12, 2008.  To the contrary, the four potential 
government witnesses who were also inside the apartment told prosecutors that two women entered 
Mr. Montgomery=s apartment and took the staged photographs.  All of them identified the women 
as Daum=s investigators, and two identified the investigators by their nicknames, AKK@ (defendant 
Iman Pasha) and AMs. Dee@ (defendant Daaiyah Pasha). 
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     ARGUMENT 

A. Applicable Law 

In Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1973), the Supreme Court held that Athe Due Process 

Clause imposes upon the prosecution an obligation to disclose >evidence favorable to an accused Y 

where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad 

faith of the prosecution.=@ United States v. Johnson, 519 F.3d 478, 488 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (quoting 

Brady, 373 U.S. at 87).  That obligation arises from the defendant=s right to a fair trial.  United 

States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 107 (1976).  “[A] ‘true Brady violation’ has three components: ‘The 

evidence at issue must be favorable to the accused, either because it is exculpatory, or because it is 

impeaching; that evidence must have been suppressed by the State, either willfully or 

inadvertently; and prejudice must have ensued.’”  Johnson, 519 F.3d at 488 (quoting Strickler v. 

Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82 (1999)).  To establish prejudice, “the withheld evidence must be 

‘material’ B that is, there must be a ‘reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to 

the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different.’@  Ibid. (quoting Strickler at 

280; other citation omitted).  “The defendant bears the burden of showing a reasonable 

probability of a different outcome.@  Id. (citing Strickler, 527 U.S. at 291); see also United States 

v. Pettiford, 627 F.3d 1224, 1227 (D.C. Cir. 2010); United States v. Gale, 314 F.3d 1, 4 (D.C. Cir. 

2003).  To determine materiality, a trial judge must evaluate the evidence as a whole.  Kyles v. 

Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 436-37 (1995).  See also Agurs, 427 U.S. at 114 (holding that, in 

determining whether prosecutor=s failure to disclose evidence denied defendant a fair trial, the 

omission must be evaluated in the context of the entire record); Pettiford, 627 F.3d at 1227 

(holding that a trial court Ahas a responsibility to evaluate the impact of the undisclosed evidence 

not in isolation, but in light of the rest of the trial record@) (citations omitted).   
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As to timing, the D.C. Circuit has instructed that “[d]isclosure by the government must be 

made at such a time as to allow the defense to use the favorable material effectively in the 

preparation and presentation of its case.”  United States v. Celis, 608 F.3d 818, 835 (D.C. Cir. 

2010).  Other courts agree.  See, e.g., Bielanski v. County of Kane, 550 F.3d 632, 645 (7th Cir. 

2008) (“Brady evidence can be handed over on the eve of trial or even during trial so long as the 

defendant is able to use it to his or her advantage.”) (citing cases).  Where, as here, a defendant 

claims that the government delayed in disclosing exculpatory material before trial, he must still 

show Aa reasonable probability that an earlier disclosure would have changed the trial=s result and 

not just that the evidence was material.@  United States v. Andrews, 532 F.3d 900, 907 (D.C. Cir. 

2008) (internal quotations and citation omitted). 

Although Brady claims are decided post-trial, when the court can assess the effect of the 

nondisclosure on the outcome of the trial, the same standards of materiality govern the 

government=s disclosure obligations in the pre-trial context.  See Agurs, 427 U.S. at 107-108  

(ALogically the same standard [of materiality] must apply at both times.  For unless the omission 

deprived the defendant of a fair trial, there was no constitutional violation requiring that the verdict 

be set aside; and absent a constitutional violation, there was no breach of the prosecutor=s 

constitutional duty to disclose.@).  See also id. at 108 (ABut to reiterate a critical point, the 

prosecutor will not have violated his constitutional duty of disclosure unless his omission is of 

sufficient significance to result in the denial of the defendant=s right to a fair trial.@); United States 

v. Coppa, 267 F.3d 132, 142 (2d Cir. 2001) (ABagley [United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 

(1985)] makes the extent of the disclosure required by Brady dependent on the anticipated remedy 

for violation of the obligation to disclose:  the prosecutor must disclose evidence if, without such 
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disclosure, a reasonable probability will exist that the outcome of a trial in which the evidence had 

been disclosed would have been different.@) (emphasis in original).  

B. The Government Disclosed the Information Before the Court’s Deadline and 
Four Weeks Before Trial, Giving Defendants Ample Opportunity to Make 
Effective Use of It at Trial. 

 
The government disclosed Mr. Montgomery=s statements to the defense on April 5, 2012, 

as soon as it discovered its oversight.4  That disclosure occurred more than four weeks before 

trial, and defendants, by their own admission, interviewed Montgomery about the events 

surrounding the September 12, 2008 staged photographs a few days later.  Those facts establish 

that the defense had time to make use of the information prior to trial.  See United States v. 

Tarantino, 846 F.2d 1384, 1416 (D.C. Cir. 1988) (AOne element of a successful Brady claim is that 

the government did, in fact, suppress the evidence.@). 

It is also significant that the government disclosed the statements before the deadline in the 

Court’s own scheduling order, which required the disclosure of “all Brady/Giglio/Bagley material 

by 5:00 p.m., April 20, 2012” [Dkt. #117].  Thus, sanctions are not warranted not only because the 

government did not violate Brady, but also because it did not violate the Court’s deadline. 

 

 

                                                 
4 The government has always maintained, even in response to the defense=s motion for early 
production of Brady/Giglio/Bagley material sixty days before trial, that, in keeping with the 
Department of Justice=s internal policies to produce discovery, it would produce information of an 
Aexculpatory@ nature as soon as it became aware of such information.  The government failed 
(mistakenly, but not in bad faith) to adhere to those policies, and it regrets that failure.  Nonetheless, 
the government’s deviation from its own internal policies does not give rise to legal remedies for the 
defense.  See United States v. Poindexter, 725 F. Supp. 13, 38 (D.D.C. 1989) (in rejecting a motion 
to dismiss for failing to follow Department of Justice policies, the trial court noted that the U.S. 
Attorney=s manual Aby its own language, creates no rights in any party@); see also United States v. 
Myers, 123 F.3d 350, 355-56 (6th Cir. 1997) (holding that a violation of the U.S. Attorney=s manual 
does not create a basis for suppressing the defendant=s grand jury testimony). 

Case 1:11-cr-00102-GK   Document 183    Filed 04/30/12   Page 7 of 16



 
 8 

C. The Defense Did Not Provide the Court with a Sufficient Basis for Finding that 
the Defense Had Suffered Prejudice as a Result of the Late Disclosure.  
 

The defense did not adequately establish that it suffered prejudice.  Although the 

defendant has the burden of showing the reasonable probability of a different outcome if the 

information had been disclosed earlier, the defense failed to produce any evidence – such as an 

affidavit from Mr. Montgomery establishing that he no longer has any memory of the events, that 

he accurately remembered the three-year-old events when he was first interviewed in July 2011, 

and that he forgot the critical facts during the ensuing months – in support of its claim.   

A record based on competent evidence is especially important in this case because the facts 

are contested and the defense proffer does nothing to resolve those contested facts.  Under the 

defense version, the three-year gap between the events in question and the July 2011 interview did 

not affect Mr. Montgomery’s recall, but his memory of the critical details faded significantly 

during the next eight months.5  Moreover, as the government advised the Court at the hearing, the 

government conducted a follow-up interview with Mr. Montgomery within a day or two of the 

defense interview, and there were key inconsistencies between what Mr. Montgomery apparently 

told the defense and what he told the government even within that limited time span.  For 

example, although Mr. Montgomery apparently told the defense that a man and a woman had 

entered his apartment on the date in question, he told prosecutors that he observed two women 

enter his apartment.  The government also apprised the Court that, when Mr. Montgomery was 

asked about what he told the defense during his interview a day or two before, Mr. Montgomery 

                                                 
5 As the Court correctly noted, “[m]emories do fade in eight months.” 4/10/12 Tr. 39.  What 
matters here, however, is that the eight-month period at issue followed a three-year gap.  Thus, if 
Mr. Montgomery has forgotten the details that the Court mentioned, such as “what was the person 
wearing, what was the exact time of day, what was the lighting like,” ibid., it is likely that he forgot 
them before July 2011. 
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stated that he actually told the defense that he saw two women enter his apartment.  Finally, the 

government proffered that, when Mr. Montgomery was asked about his statement to the 

government in July 2011 that he saw a man and a woman inside his apartment, Mr. Montgomery 

stated that he could not recall making such a statement.6  4/19/12 Tr. 24. 

Given what is clearly a confused recounting of the facts by Mr. Montgomery, the defense’s 

factual basis for their claim of prejudice has not been sufficiently established.  The Court should 

require the defense to provide competent evidence to establish prejudice, and, if such evidence is 

produced, resolve contested factual disputes.   

D. The Government Did Not Violate Brady as a Matter of Law.   
 
Although the defense was able to locate and interview Mr. Montgomery within just a few 

days of learning about him, the Court nevertheless determined that the government violated its 

Brady obligations because, as a result of Mr. Montgomery’s allegedly faded memory about the 

incident in question, the defense no longer had an opportunity to make effective use of his 

potentially exculpatory testimony at trial.  We request that the Court reconsider its conclusion for 

several reasons. 

First, even if the Court were to rely on the defense proffer, Mr. Montgomery’s speculation 

about what he might or might not have remembered several months earlier is not sufficient to 

establish the sort of prejudice necessary for a finding that the government violated its Brady 

                                                 
6 Notably, on April 19, 2012, MPD officers interviewed Mr. Montgomery for the third time.  
During this interview, Mr. Montgomery provided yet another account of the incident.  He also 
told officers that he again spoke with the defense and they took a written statement from him.  
According to Mr. Montgomery, the people with whom he spoke had him initial and sign the 
statement, but they did not provide him with a copy.  Apparently, given the timing of the officers’ 
interview, the defense had actually taken a written statement from Mr. Montgomery prior to the 
hearing on April 19.  However, the defense did not provide that statement to the Court.  Attached 
hereto as Exhibit A is MPD Detective Michael Iannacchione’s affidavit, which summarizes the 
substance of the two recent interviews conducted by police of Mr. Montgomery. 
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obligation.  According to that proffer, when the defense spoke to Mr. Montgomery several days 

before the Brady hearing, he stated that he was unable to remember certain details of the incident, 

but that, had he been asked about the incident the previous year, i.e., at the time that the 

government interviewed him, he “would have” remembered much more about the incident.  

4/19/12 Tr. 15.  For example, Mr. Montgomery stated that, if he had been asked about the incident 

sooner, he may have been able to recall information about the vehicle driven by the two people 

who entered his apartment.  Id. at 15-16.  The purported prejudice is therefore no more than 

guesswork about the potential use and value of the evidence.   

  The law is clear that no Brady violation occurs where the so-called Brady evidence is 

merely Apotentially exculpatory.@  See Agurs, 427 U.S. at 109-10 (AThe mere possibility that an 

item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the 

outcome of the trial, does not establish >materiality= in the constitutional sense.@); Arizona v. 

Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 58 (1988) (holding that, although destroyed semen samples in case were 

Apotentially useful,@ it was not the Amaterial exculpatory evidence@ this Court contemplated in 

Brady and Agurs); see also United States v. Hamilton, 103 F.3d 499, 507 (7th Cir. 1997) (holding 

that a Brady violation does not occur because of the Amere possibility@ that undisclosed 

information may have been helpful to the defense).  As the Court recognized, whether Mr. 

Montgomery’s statement would have been favorable is unknown, and the defense speculation that 

Mr. Montgomery remembered facts in 2011 that would have aided the defense cannot support a 

finding of a Brady violation.  See, e.g., Wood v. Bartholomew, 516 U.S. 1, 5-6 (1995) (Ninth 

Circuit=s conclusion that information, Ahad it been disclosed to the defense, might have led 

respondent=s counsel to conduct additional discovery that might have led to some additional 

evidence that could have been utilized@ was Amere speculation@ that did not support finding of 
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Brady violation); United States v. Aleman, 548 F.3d 1158, 1164 (8th Cir. 2008) (rejecting Brady 

claim based on government=s failure to disclose evidence that alluded to individuals whom 

defendant could have investigated further; A[Defendant] only speculates that interviews of these 

other individuals would have provided evidence favorable to his defense, however, and mere 

speculation ... is not ... sufficient to sustain a Brady claim.@) (internal quotation marks and citation 

omitted).   

 Second, although the government’s practice is to disclose exculpatory information as soon 

as it becomes aware of it, the law does not require immediate disclosure.  Instead, the government 

must disclose Brady information in sufficient time for the defense to make effective use of it at 

trial.7  See United States v. Celis, 608 F.3d 818, 835 (D.C. Cir. 2010); see also Coppa, 267 F.3d at 

144 (A[W]e reiterate the longstanding constitutional principle that as long as a defendant possesses 

Brady evidence in time for its effective use, the government has not deprived the defendant of due 

process of law simply because it did not produce the evidence sooner.@).  Here, the Asuppressed@ 

evidence is Mr. Montgomery’s statement that he saw a man and a woman enter the apartment.  

That information was made available to the defense in sufficient time to enable them to determine 

whether to call Montgomery as a defense witness or to impeach him should the government call 

him instead.  

Third, we are not aware of any legal support for the defense’s Afaded memory@ theory as a 

basis for a Brady violation.  Under their reasoning, any delay in disclosing exculpatory or 

                                                 
7 Although defense counsel argued that the cases he cited in his motion Aall speak to timing which 
is when the Government gets it, the defense gets it at the same time,@ 4/19/12 Tr. 18, those cases 
repeat the well-accepted test, described above, that disclosure must be made at a time that allows 
the defense to make effective use of the material at trial.  See, e.g., United States v. Pollack, 534 
F.2d 964, 973 (D.C. Cir. 1976); Sykes v. United States, 897 A.2d 769, 777 (D.C. 2006). 
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impeachment information, no matter how brief, violates Brady because of the possibility that the 

witness will forget some details.  The defense has not cited any cases that support that 

proposition.  If anything, the defense Afaded memory@ theory is akin to a claim that, by failing to 

immediately disclose Mr. Montgomery=s statement, the government, in effect, Adestroyed@ 

exculpatory evidence because Mr. Montgomery no longer remembers the favorable details and the 

defense cannot investigate them further.  But even under that theory, the claim fails.  As noted 

above, any information that the defendants claim is lost is only potentially exculpatory, and the 

failure to preserve evidence that is only Apotentially useful@ does not deprive a defendant of due 

process unless a defendant can show bad faith on the part of law enforcement.  Youngblood, 488 

U.S. at 58; In re Sealed Case, 99 F.3d 1175, 1178 (D.C. Cir. 1996).  In light of the government=s 

voluntary disclosure of voluminous discovery materials well in advance of the Court=s deadline, its 

inadvertent omission here cannot be construed as bad faith.  Indeed, this Court stated as much at 

the April 19 hearing.  4/19/12 Tr. 40-41. 

Fourth, and most significantly, the defendants have not demonstrated prejudice within the 

meaning of Brady.  Mr. Montgomery is available as a witness, and it is his current recall of events 

that matters.  Even if the defense had interviewed him in July, obtained the same favorable 

information as did the government, and “gotten a statement under oath from him,” 4/19/12 Tr. 39, 

that statement would not be admissible at trial as substantive evidence.  United States v. 

Livingston, 661 F.2d 239, 241-244 (D.C. Cir. 1981) (admission of sworn statement to investigators 

as substantive evidence under Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(1)(A) was reversible error; “In order to assure 

authenticity and reliability, ‘the Rule seems to contemplate situations in which an official verbatim 

record is routinely kept, whether stenographically or by electronic means, under legal authority.’” 
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(quoting 4 D. Louisell & C. Mueller, Federal Evidence s 419 at 171 (1980)).8   

Next, even if the prior favorable statements were admissible, the defendants have not 

established a Areasonable probability@ that the admission of that evidence at trial would result in an 

acquittal.  Among other things, there are significant inconsistencies in Mr. Montgomery=s various 

statements about the incident, some of them made just a few days apart, which call into question 

the accuracy of any of his statements.  And, given these inconsistencies, it is not clear that the 

defense would have called Montgomery as a witness at trial at all.9  See Johnson, 519 F.3d at 489 

(holding that trial court, in applying the test of whether the defendant has met his burden of 

showing a Brady violation, Amust consider the non-disclosure dynamically, taking into account the 

range of predictable impacts on strategy@); Gale, 314 F.3d at 4 (same). 

Finally, the Court would have to assess whether Mr. Montgomery=s purported trial 

testimony would have produced a different result when considered against all the evidence in the 

case.  See, e.g., Celis, 608 F.3d at 837.  Because the Court cannot determine pre-trial whether the 

government=s disclosure deprived the defendants of a fair trial, its ruling that the government 

violated Brady was erroneous.  See United States v. Garrett, 238 F.3d 293, 303-304 (5th Cir. 

2000) (concurrence) (AWith the backward-looking focus of Brady, however, whether a Brady 

                                                 
8 Although defense counsel claimed that he “would have gotten a Court Reporter and gotten [the 
statement] under oath,” 4/19/12/ Tr. at 12, it is even more speculative to conclude that Mr. 
Montgomery would have repeated his statement under the formalities of a deposition.   
9 The defense represented to the Court that Mr. Montgomery had neither a history of alcohol abuse 
nor any connection with any of the government’s potential witnesses that would suggest bias 
towards the government.  4/19/12 Tr. 13, 29.  Both of those statements are incorrect.  First, Mr. 
Montgomery has two prior alcohol-related convictions, one for possessing an open alcoholic 
container (2008), and one for driving while impaired (1991).  Second, if the government were to 
call Mr. Montgomery as a witness, the defense undoubtedly would attack his credibility by pointing 
out his ongoing close relationship with Cheryl White, an unindicted co-conspirator in the case, as 
well as his close relationship with her family members, including her sons Delante, Jerome, and 
Christopher White, all whom may testify for the government.   
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violation has occurred, indeed whether the government even had a Brady obligation, can only be 

determined after the trial is over.  This is true because disclosure under Brady is required only if 

the evidence is material, but materiality can be judged only in hindsight, in the context of all the 

evidence presented.@) (citing Agurs, 427 U.S. at 112-13, and Kyles 514 U.S. at 433-37 (internal 

footnotes omitted); United States v. Presser, 844 F.2d 1275, 1286 (6th Cir. 1988) (AThe decisions 

which have construed the Brady doctrine make it absolutely clear that the remedy for a Brady 

violation is a new trial and that the remedy is available to a defendant only after a first trial has 

ended in a conviction and only after a defendant shows that there is a reasonable probability that 

had the Brady evidence been disclosed in time for use at trial, the first trial would not have resulted 

in a conviction.@).   
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CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, the government respectfully requests that this Court 

reconsider and vacate its April 19, 2012 Order and deny the Defendants= Motion to Compel 

Production of Brady Material and for Sanctions. 

      Respectfully submitted,  

 

ARTHUR G. WYATT 
Chief 
Narcotic and Dangerous Drug Section 

 
By:         /s/                                            

Donnell W. Turner       
Tritia L. Yuen 
Darrin L. McCullough 
Trial Attorneys 
Narcotic and Dangerous Drug Section 
Criminal Division 
U.S. Department of Justice 
1400 New York Avenue, N.W., 8th Floor 
Washington, DC 20005     
Main Office: (202) 307-5977 
Fax: (202) 305-9825 
Donnell.Turner@usdoj.gov 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on the 30th day of April 2012, I filed the foregoing with the Clerk of 

the Court via the CM/ECF system which will deliver a Notice of Electronic Filing on all counsel of 

record. 

 
By:         /s/                       
  

Donnell W. Turner      
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